

Greater Denton Arts Council

By-laws

Article I

Name

The name of this not for profit corporation as provided by its Articles of Incorporation, shall be the Greater Denton Arts Council, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as “the Arts Council”).

Article II

Purpose

The Arts Council is organized to:

1. Support, promote and encourage all of the Arts including, but not limited to, music, poetry, theatre and drama, dance, painting, sculpture, literature, visual art, landscaping, architecture, and horticulture;
2. Stimulate and raise public interest, support, appreciation, and quality of all arts and arts programs available to the public in the greater Denton area;
3. Make the Arts more accessible to all persons in the greater Denton area;
4. Support the Arts by serving as a liaison between community, business, educational, and governmental entities to develop and implement art-related purposes in the greater Denton area;
5. Promote and foster collaborative relationships between organizations, provided that such organizations shall have qualified as “exempt organizations” under Section 501 (c) 3 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Code);
6. Be a resource for leadership, coordination, funding, and education for area arts and cultural organizations; and
7. Own, operate and maintain offices and facilities in the greater Denton area.

Article III Definitions

Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, in these bylaws:

1. "Articles of Incorporation" means the Articles of Incorporation of the Arts Council as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Texas and includes all amendments thereto subsequently filed.
2. "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Arts Council.
3. "Executive Committee" means the officers of the Arts Council as defined in Article VIII hereof.
4. "Bylaws" means these bylaws as adopted by the Board and includes amendments subsequently adopted by the Board.
5. "Members" means the members of the Arts Council as determined pursuant to these bylaws.

Article IV Members

Section 1 – Categories of Membership

Categories of membership in the Arts Council shall be:

1. General Members. General membership shall include individual, family, and business.
2. Organizational Members. Those not-for-profit organizations that are interested in the Arts Council shall be eligible for an organizational membership but shall not have voting privileges.
3. Other Members. Other member groups or classifications as may be established by the Board from time to time.
4. Membership shall not be assignable by a member, nor shall membership pass to any personal representative, heir, or devisee. Membership of any member shall cease on his or her death.

Section 2 – Levels of Membership

1. The Board shall, from time to time, establish the levels of membership and corresponding monetary amounts within each category.
2. Members shall be required to pay dues and/or meet attendance or participation requirements to remain in good standing.

Section 3 – Voting and Privileges

General members shall have one vote. Organizational members are non-voting.

Section 4 – Removal of Members

A majority of the Board may remove any member at any time with or without cause.

Article V Meetings

Section 1 – General Membership Meeting

The full membership of the Arts Council shall meet at least once each year. The time and place of each meeting shall be designated by the Board. The election of members to the Board shall take place at this Annual General Membership Meeting. The Executive Committee of the Board shall set the agenda.

Section 2 – Notices and Quorum

Notice of the date, hour, and place of each general meeting shall be given to the membership at least 10 days in advance of such meeting. Members present and eligible to vote at any meeting shall be deemed to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The action of the majority of members present and eligible to vote shall be deemed to be the action of the Arts Council.

Section 3 – Special Meetings

Special meetings of the members may be called by the President, three members of the Board, or on petition of at least twenty (20) members having voting rights. The purpose or purposes of the meeting shall be stated in the notice. At least twenty-four hours notice shall be given.

Article VI

Board of Directors

Section 1 – Number and Composition

The Board of the Arts Council shall be comprised of the following:

1. Not less than three (3) nor more than eighteen (18) elected directors as determined by the Board.
2. Two (2) designated voting directors as stipulated:
The President of the Arts Guild or that person's designate.
The Immediate Past President of the Arts Council, if his/her term has expired.
3. The Executive Director.

Section 2 – Election of Directors

Directors other than the designated directors shall be elected by a majority of the members of the Arts Council present and voting at the Annual Membership Meeting.

Section 3 – Length of Elected Directors' terms

Directors' terms of office shall be three (3) years in length. Terms shall be staggered so that a third of directors are elected annually. Directors are limited to two (2) consecutive full terms plus any partial term served immediately prior to these. Individuals are eligible for additional board membership after being off the Board for at least one (1) year.

Section 4 – Responsibilities and Powers

1. Directors have the responsibility for the governance and management of the affairs of the Arts Council.
2. Directors shall take all steps necessary to achieve the purposes in Article II.
3. The Board shall have the power to acquire by purchase, gift or otherwise, real and personal property of every kind, and to hold, use, or dispose of same in the name of the Arts Council for the purpose of achieving any of the purposes of the Arts Council.
4. All Board members shall maintain membership in the Arts Council, attend meetings, serve on committees and advance the purposes and goals of the Arts Council.

Section 5 – Compensation of Directors

No director shall be entitled to or shall receive any profit or compensation from the Arts Council by reason of membership thereof; however, this provision shall not apply to reimbursement for necessary expenses incurred on behalf of the Arts Council.

Section 6 – Board of Directors Meetings

Directors shall hold regular meetings at least ten times a year, at a specified time. At least three (3) days' advance notice, including an agenda, must be given for regular meetings. Emergency meetings may be called by the Executive Committee at any time, following the same procedure but without the three-day notice. A majority of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting.

Section 7 – Removal of Directors

Any Director may be removed by the Board at any time, with or without cause, by a majority vote of the Board. A Director shall automatically cease to serve as a member of the Board if said Director has three consecutive unexcused absences or four unexcused absences from regular monthly meetings in a fiscal year.

Article VII Officers

Section 1 – Titles and Terms of Office

The officers of the Arts Council shall be a President, a Vice-President for Finance, a Vice-President for Membership, a Vice-President for Exhibitions and Education, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and the Immediate Past President. The terms of office shall be one year, beginning with the fiscal year July 1. Elected officers may serve no more than two (2) consecutive terms in the same office.

Section 2 – Election of Officers

The officers of the Arts Council shall be Directors elected annually by the Board by majority vote at the next scheduled meeting following the Annual General Membership Meeting.

Section 3 – Vacancies

A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board for the remaining portion of the term.

Section 4 – President

The President shall have the power and the duty to carry out the directives and resolutions of the Arts Council and of the Board; shall be in general charge of the properties and affairs of the Arts Council in the ordinary course of its activities; shall preside at all meetings of the Arts Council, Board and the Executive Committee; shall have check signing authority; shall sign and execute all other bonds, deeds, conveyances, assignments, mortgages, notes, contracts, and other obligations in the name of the Arts Council; and shall be a non-voting ex officio member of all committees unless specified otherwise in these By-laws.

Section 5 – Vice-President for Finance

The Vice-President for Finance shall chair the Finance Committee; shall have such powers or duties as may be assigned by the President or the Board and shall, in the absence of the President, preside as President. The Vice-President for Finance has the responsibility to develop, implement, and maintain fundraising initiatives and strategies, and provide Board leadership for cultivating and recognizing major donors.

Section 6 – Vice-President for Membership

The Vice-President for Membership shall chair the Membership Committee and have such powers or duties as may be assigned by the President or the Board and shall, in the absence of the President and the Vice-President for Finance, preside as President. The Vice-President for Membership has responsibility for planning and arranging the annual membership campaign and the Annual General Membership Meeting.

Section 7 – Vice-President for Exhibitions and Education

The Vice-President for Exhibitions and Education shall chair the Exhibitions and Education Committee; shall have such powers and responsibilities as may be assigned by the President or by the Board, and, in the absence of the President, Vice-President for Finance, and Vice-President for Membership, preside as President. The Vice-President for Exhibitions and Education has general responsibility for reviewing and evaluating the goals of the Arts Council's exhibitions and education programs.

Section 8 – Secretary

The Secretary shall record the minutes of all meetings of the Arts Council and of the Board; shall give and send all meeting notices; shall have check signing authority and shall have such other powers or duties as may be assigned by the President or the Board.

Section 9 – Treasurer

The Treasurer shall keep full and accurate accounts of all money received and paid out on account of the Arts Council; shall have check signing authority; shall serve on the Finance Committee; shall submit all records to be audited within 90 (ninety) days of the close of the fiscal year, and shall submit to the Board an unqualified statement, signed by an outside CPA, of all assets, liabilities, capital, income, and expense accounts, and shall give bond for the faithful discharge of these duties as required by the Board. All records shall be open to inspection by the public during normal business hours.

Section 10 – Immediate Past President

The Immediate Past President serves as advisor to the President, Executive Committee and the Board. This office is limited to a one-year term.

Section 11 – Executive Director

The Executive Director is the Chief Operating Officer of the Arts Council responsible for implementing the purposes and goals of the Arts Council and directives of the Board; has day-to-day responsibility for the administration of the Arts Council's business, facilities and programs, and is the Arts Council's public relations ambassador. As directed by the Board, develops and administers the annual budget; has check signing authority; supervises the Arts Council's staff, is accountable to the Board, which formulates and periodically reviews duties and responsibilities; is an ex officio non-voting member of the Board and all Arts Council committees, and serves as a co-signature on all financial documents. The Executive Director is responsible for all staffing decisions necessary for the operation of the Arts Council, which includes all hiring, termination, promotion, and disciplinary decisions.

Section 12 – Removal of Officers

Any officer may be removed by the Board at any time, with or without cause.

Article VIII Committees

There shall be the following standing committees of the Arts Council: Executive, Finance, Membership, Exhibitions and Education, Nominating, Grants, Community Arts Recognition Award (CARA), and Endowment. Except as designated below, members and chairs of committees are appointed by the President and may include non-board members.

Section 1 – Executive Committee

The Executive Committee shall be composed of all officers of the Arts Council. It shall have the duty and powers to assist the President in the performance of presidential duties and to set the agenda for meetings of the Arts Council and the Board. The Executive Committee has oversight for programs and their development. It shall also conduct an annual performance review of the Executive Director. The President shall chair the Executive Committee.

Section 2 – Finance Committee

The Finance Committee shall consist of at least five (5) members. It shall have the responsibility to plan and carry out fund raising initiatives, and shall oversee acquisition and operation of facilities. It also cultivates and recognizes major donors. It is chaired by the Vice-President for Finance.

Section 3 – Membership Committee

The Membership Committee shall consist of at least five (5) members. It shall have the responsibility to plan and conduct the annual membership drive and coordinate the Annual Membership Meeting. It is chaired by the Vice-President for Membership.

Section 4 – Exhibitions and Education Committee

The Exhibitions and Education Committee shall consist of at least five (5) members. It reviews, recommends, organizes, and has general charge of exhibition-related events such as opening receptions and educational programs. It is chaired by the Vice-President for Exhibitions and Education.

Section 5 – Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee shall consist of five (5) Board members, two (2) of whom are the President and the Vice-President for Finance and two (2) Arts Council members not currently serving on the Board. The Nominating Committee shall nominate at least one person for each eligible position to the Board for acceptance. The Nominating Committee will place in written notice to the voting members the names of nominees not less than ten (10) days before the dates of the Annual General Membership Meeting. The Committee will meet to nominate candidates for Directors whose positions become vacant during the year in order to fill unfinished terms. The Nominating Committee shall also present a slate of officers for approval to the next meeting of the Board following the Annual General Membership Meeting.

Section 6 – Grants Review Committee

The Grants Review Committee shall consist of four (4) members of the Board, three (3) members of The Arts Guild appointed by the President of the Arts Guild, and two (2) representatives from the community at large. It shall have the duty and powers to review grant requests and to forward its recommendations to the Board for final decision.

Section 7 – CARA Committee

The CARA Committee shall consist of four members, of whom two shall be members of the Board and two shall be from the community at large. Names of the CARA Committee are not revealed.

Section 8 - Endowment Committee

The Endowment Committee shall consist of seven members: the Vice-President for Finance, who shall be chairman, three members of the Board, and three non-Board members who shall be selected from the community at large. Members are appointed annually by the President (with approval of the Board) and may serve up to three (3) consecutive one-year terms.

The charge of the committee is to provide leadership to the Board on matters pertaining to the acquisition and management of assets for an endowment until such a time that the fund reaches \$100,000. At that time, the Board shall establish a separate 501 (c) 3 corporation (within a reasonable time) and all Arts Council assets designated or restricted for endowment use shall be transferred (for that purpose) to the aforementioned new corporation. Said corporation will be established according to by-laws and policies formulated by the Board and approved by the voting membership.

Standing Committee Status:

The Endowment Committee shall be a standing committee of the Arts Council until the formation of said corporation. Upon incorporation of that entity, the Committee shall lose its standing status.

Section 9 – Other Committees. Such other committees, standing or special, shall be appointed by the President as the Board shall from time to time deem necessary to carry on the work of the Arts Council.

Article IX The Arts Guild of Denton

The Arts Guild of Denton (TAG) is the fund raising support organization for the Arts Council. TAG maintains its own membership and governing structure and has the authority to administer its budget according to its policies. TAG is legally a part of the Arts Council and is therefore bound to the organizational mission and all legal obligations set forth in these by-laws as well as any applicable governmental statutes regulating tax-exempt corporations. TAG uses the Arts Council Federal Employer Identification Number (EIN) and is included in the financial audits of the Arts Council.

Article X Non-Discrimination

Neither the Arts Council, its Board, employees or authorized representatives shall engage in any conduct related directly or indirectly to the business of the Arts Council which adversely affects an individual or group of individuals on the basis of race, color, disability, religion, sex, national origin or age.

Article XI Dissolution

Upon the dissolution of the Arts Council, the Board shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all the liabilities of the Arts Council, dispose of all of the assets of the corporation exclusively for the purpose of the Arts Council, in such a manner, or to such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively for such educational purpose or purposes, as shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization or organizations under Section 501 (c) 3 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), as the Board shall determine; and any of such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by a District Court of the County in which the principal office of the Arts Council is then located, exclusively for such former purposes of the Arts Council.

Article XII Parliamentary Authority

The rules contained in the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised* shall govern the Arts Council in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these by-laws and any special rules of order the Arts Council may adopt.

Article XIII Amendments

The by-laws of the Arts Council can be amended by a two-thirds vote of those members present and voting at any Board Meeting of the Arts Council. Proposed amendments must be circulated by mail at least two weeks prior to the meeting.